FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 10/18/2021 4:09 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/18/2021 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

100306-4

No. 81132-1-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BOUNCE AND LASERTAG, LLC d/b/a PUMP IT UP, et al,

Petitioners,

v.

KENT EAST COMMERCIAL, LCC, et al,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR SUPREME COURT REVIEW

Jose F. Vera of Vera & Associates PLLC WSBA #25534, Attorney for Petitioners 100 West Harrison Street, Suite 300 Seattle, WA 98119 (206) 793-8318 Josevera@veraassociates.com

I. INTRODUCTION

Mr. Akthar Khan and his wife, Ms. Munna Choudhri (the "Khans") operate an activity and event center mostly for children. The center operates indoor inflatable rides with linked pizza parties for small groups. Before the pandemic, the Khan's Tacoma operation was filled with life, laughter, and relieved parents, who got to see their often tween children play like children again. The Khans are franchisees of "Fund Bands" and "Pump It Up Holdings, LLC." The Khans applied for, were granted, and purchased the franchisee medallion for area in which the underlying leasehold is located for \$15,000. The Khans purchased a commercial pizza oven and expended sunk costs for starting a new service business. They did these things because they thought they had negotiated and signed an agreement for their future location in Kent Washington with Kent East Commercial LLC ("KEC").

KEC is the landlord on the commercial lease it foisted upon Bounce (the "Lease"). Pradeep and Sharmila Rathinam

1

(husband and wife) and Mr. Satwant Singh are all KEC members, voluntary parties to the arbitration, and none of them had a "Pump It Up" franchise medallion. They had millions of dollars, dozens of properties, and, in the case of Mr. Satwant Singh, more than 20 years of experience as a commercial real estate broker. Mr. Singh wrote the Lease. He drafted the Lease's Arbitration provision, and he required the application of the AAA Civil Rules to any dispute between the parties. He invoked AAA Civil Rule R-47. Despite months of joint planning and discussions, Mr. Singh gave the Khan's minutes (not hours) to review and sign the Lease. The March 22, 2017, Lease (the "Lease") filled KEC's space (about 50% of the Property's leasable space) that had been vacant since 2011.

The underlying dispute arose in August 2018 when KEC refused to grant Bounce access to the built-out space days before the arrival of Bounce's trade fixtures and final trade dress. The parties had worked together for almost 16 months to buildout the space to meet the franchisor's unique requirements. Initially,

Bounce was torn between this space and that of another landlord. KEC induced Bounce to execute the Lease by offering aggressive Lease terms, especially when it came to building out the space at KEC's costs. The Tenant Improvement (TI) work suffered from poor management and communications, responsibility for which the Arbitrator placed squarely on Mr. Singh. On August 18, 2018 (with the final trade fixtures arriving) in less than 72 hours), Mr. Rathinam emailed the Khans that the Khans would need to agree to new, less favorable terms to gain access to the space. When Bounce protested and said they could not afford such terms, KEC cancelled the deal and refused all access to Bounce (KEC retains Bounce's commercial pizza equipment to this day). Mr. Singh then texted Bounce that KEC had its lawyers all ready to go, if Bounce sought to challenge them. On August 22, 2018, Ms. Rathinam emailed the franchisor to see if KEC could operate the franchisee business from the space. The lock out—the threat—and the takeover effort. The parties' arbitration followed.

Mr. Singh included an Arbitration Rider (the "Rider") in the Lease. The Rider required the parties to submit all disputes to arbitration with an attorney arbitrator with at least fifteen years of commercial real estate law experience and to conduct the arbitration under AAA Commercial Arbitration Rules with Expedited Procedures. The AAA Commercial Arbitration Rules include AAA Rule R-47 that grants the Arbitrator the authority to grant any remedy or relief that the arbitrator deems just and equitable within the scope of the parties' agreement. The arbitrator ruled in Bounce's favor.

The Arbitrator's October 10, 2019 Final Arbitration Award (**Appendix D**) awarded Bounce its resulting lost profits, \$25,000 in miscellaneous damages, and \$11,171 in terms, plus attorney's fees. KEC sought to vacate the Award at the trial Court level with the Honorable Judge Michael K. Ryan affirming the Award in a 10 page ruling on January 22, 2020. (**Appendix C**). Significantly, Judge Ryan raised the issue first raised by Justice Utter his concurrence (signed by four Justices) in *Boyd v*. *Davis*, 127 Wn.2d 256, 897 P.2d 1239 (1995), and by Division III Chief Judge Lawrence-Berrey in his concurrence in *Mainline Rock & Ballast, Inc., v. Barnes, Inc.*, 8 Wn.App.2d 594, 439 P.3d. 662 (Div. III 2019) that RCW 7.04A.230 (1)(d) (effective January 1, 2006) should be construed more narrowly than the former RCW 7.04.160(4) (effective 1943). KEC appealed Judge Ryan's Decision to Division I of Washington's Court of Appeals on February 14, 2020. Division I issued its Opinion on August 16, 2021 (the "Opinion"). (**Appendix A**)

In its Opinion, Division I declined to address the issue of whether the scope by which to assess arbitration awards should change in light of the 2006 statutory amendments, and instead, reversed the trial court's order confirming the arbitration award based on its determination that the arbitrator exceeded his authority in awarding lost profits under the Rider and AAA Commercial Rules (AAA Rule R-47). Division I remanded the matter to the trial court to vacate the award and to order a rehearing in arbitration. Division I declined to address the arbitrator's award of miscellaneous damages and terms for discovery abuses, which are unrelated to the issue of lost profits and consequential damages. Bounce raised this specific issue on a Motion for Reconsideration. Division I denied the Motion for Reconsideration by a majority of the panel. (**Appendix B**). This Petition for review follows.

The Opinion presents the Supreme Court with three issues. First, is now the time to comment on the effect of the statutory omissions made by the 2006 Amendment to Washington's Arbitration Act as suggested by Division III Chief Judge Lawrence-Berrey.

Second, may the Court of Appeals properly reverse an Arbitrator's award of lost profits to an aggrieved tenant, when the Opinion fails to address the role that AAA Rule R-47 plays in the Final Award and when the Opinion defined an undefined term by resort to a legal dictionary in violation of Washington's substantive law of lease interpretation? *Queen City Farms, Inc. v. Cent. Nat'l Inc. Co.*, 126 Wn.2d 50, 882 P.2d 703 (1994)

(courts may turn to Standard English dictionaries to define undefined words in an agreement). Here, the parties' Lease failed to define the term "consequential damages." The arbitrator choose to review the entire lease for a possible definition by the parties, and when that effort failed to produce a definition for the term, the Arbitrator construed the undefined term against the landlord and in favor of the tenant. Division I instead resorted to a Legal Dictionary and not a Standard English dictionary to construe the term undefined by the Lease against the tenant and in favor of the landlord, who drafted the lease. Did Division I's approach to this issue violate the Facial Legal Error standard and Washington's substantive law of contract interpretation?

Last, may the Opinion remand the award of damages in four different categories when the Opinion related only to one of the four awarded damage categories? Here, the Opinion remanded the entire arbitration award because it deemed that one of the four categories of awarded damages was improper. Should not the remaining categories of properly awarded damages be

7

affirmed? The award of \$25,000 in miscellaneous damages and \$11,171 for discovery violation terms should be affirmed under the Opinion's adoption of the Facial Legal Error Doctrine. The issue of awardable attorney's fees could be addressed at the trial level.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner is Bounce and Lasertag LLC d/b/a Pump It Up ("Bounce").

III. DECISION

Bounce respectfully requests this Court to accept review of the decision entered by Division I of Washington Court of Appeals on August 16, 2021 (Court of Appeals No. 81132-1-I)(the "Decision" or "Opinion"). Attached hereto as **Appendix A**.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The Opinion gives the Supreme Court an opportunity to do the following:

- A. To address if the accepted read of the Facial Legal Error Doctrine remains a proper basis by which to vacate an arbitration award in light of the analysis and urgings of Justice Utter, Division III Chief Justice Lawrence-Berrey, and the Honorable Judge Ryan that Facial Legal Error Doctrine is out of step with Washington's current Arbitration Act. Under the Facial Legal Error Doctrine, well-explained arbitration awards become invitations for endless litigation. This matter is a case in point. This matter has been anything but speedy, less costly, and efficient. The Opinion consigns Bounce to at least another two years of arbitration expenses before a JAMS arbitrator. The first arbitration was so bad that the Arbitrator had to impose discovery abuse terms against KEC. What new costly tactics will KEC inflict on Bounce this time?
- B. To address whether the Opinion improperly applied the Facial Legal Error Doctrine and Washington's law of contract interpretation.

- 1. The Final Arbitration Award Letter shows that the Arbitrator engaged in a two-step process to award Bounce lost profits. Appendix D at ¶2 on P. 4. First the Arbitrator reviewed, not only Lease Section 21, but the entire Lease to determine that the Lease failed to define "consequential damages" as including the idea of lost profits and failed to prohibit the award of lost profits outright under the Lease as damages. The Arbitrator then determined that the Lease terms, the parties' course of dealings, and the nature of their multi-year relationship enabled him to award lost profits. This was especially true in light of AAA Rule R-47, which empowered him to grant any remedy that he deemed just and equitable within the scope of the parties' Lease and Rider.
- 2. Washington follows the objective theory of contract interpretation. Under this theory, the meaning of contract terms are to be determined from the face of the agreement when possible. Undefined or ambiguous terms are to be given meaning in accord with a Standard English Dictionary and to

be construed against the drafter of the agreement. Here, the Opinion improperly defined the term "consequential damages" by a Legal Dictionary and construed the term in favor of the drafter. In this regard, the Opinion is contrary to Washington law of contract interpretation and requires the Supreme Court's intervention to correct.

C. To address if the Opinion improperly remanded all categories of Arbitrator awarded damages for a rehearing when the Opinion only reversed the Arbitrator's award of lost profit damages and declined to address the Arbitrator's award of miscellaneous damages, award of terms for discovery violations, and award of related attorney's fees. Under the Facial Legal Error Doctrine, there is no basis to avoid affirming these latter damage awards. The Opinion should be revised to affirm these awards on appeal and to define Bounce as the prevailing party on appeal.

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE A. General Background Facts

11

The facts relevant to this Petitioner for Review are limited due to this being an appeal originating from a challenged Arbitration Award. Appendix D. The trial court affirmed the Arbitration Award to a Judgment. Appendix C. KEC appealed the trial court's Order and Judgment confirming the Arbitration Award. Division I of the Court of Appeals by its Opinion reversed and remanded the matter back to the trial court for a remand and rehearing before a JAMS arbitrator in accord with the Rider because the Arbitration Award exceeded the Arbitrator's authority under the Rider in awarding Bounce lost profits. Appendix A. In this context, the Supreme Court's review is limited to the courts' process for confirming or vacating of the Arbitration Award. Godfrey v. HartfordCas. Ins. Co., 142 Wn.2d 885, 893, 16 P.3d 617 (2001) (Private arbitration in Washington State is governed exclusively by statute.)

The issues reviewable by the Supreme Court are thus limited to the following three primary issues: (1) whether the Facial Legal Error Doctrine now needs to be harmonized with the 2006 Amendments to Washington's Arbitration Act; (2) whether the Opinion properly applied Washington substantive law (the Facial Legal Error Doctrine and Washington's law of contract interpretation) in deciding to reverse the trial court's affirmation of the Arbitration Award, and (3) whether the Opinion properly reversed and remanded the entire Arbitration Award to the trial court when two of the three categories of awarded damages were separate from the award of lost profits.

The following facts are taken from the Arbitrator's Final and Interim Award Letters. Consolidated in **Appendix D**. Although the entire arbitration process contributed to and shaped the Arbitrator's decision on damages, the July 9, 2019 and September 17, 2019 hearings (more than 5.5 hours of presenting exhibits, testimony, and arguments focused on awardable damages in this matter) contributed most to the final amounts awarded. (CP 47-8).

1. Judicial Officers favor harmonizing the Facial Legal Error Doctrine with the 2006 Amendments to the Washington Arbitration Act

In 2019 Chief Justice of Division III Justice Lawrence-Berrey specifically wrote his concurrence to encourage future litigants to argue that RCW 7.04A.230(1)(d) should be construed more narrowly than courts had construed former 7.04.160(4). Mainline Rock & Ballast, Inc., v. Barnes, Inc., 8 Wn.App.2d 594, 619, 439 P.3d 662 (Div. III 2019). The Honorable Michael K. Ryan agreed with Justice Lawrence-Berrey's observations and analysis in the problems created and furthered by the continued application of the Facial Legal Error Standard. Appendix C at Page 3 in fn. 1. Both Judge Ryan and Justice Lawrence-Berrey note that arbitration should be faster, less expensive, and more efficient than traditional litigation *Id*. Yet when one party with nearly limitless resources engages in vexatious, hardnosed litigation during an arbitration that causes the arbitrator to issues a detailed arbitration letter—the parties, like here, are condemned to an expensive and time consuming trip through the court system's appellate process. This all but ensures the trampling and loss of dignity for the party of ordinary

means. What was not lost to the pandemic's fire is taken by the wealthy. Is this the new Washington? Is this realty what alarmed at least two judicial officers?

Justice Lawrence-Berry noted in his Concurrence that the 2006 Amendments to RCW 7.04.160(4) deleted the second phrase entirely in the provision's new iteration at RCW 7.04A.230(1)(d). Id., 8 Wn.App.2d at 620. The deletion or omission is intentional with the intent to narrow the ability of a court to vacate an arbitration award, yet no appellate court has addressed the intentional deletion and its impact on the Facial Legal Error Doctrine as applied in **Boyd**. Id. The two judicial officers both noted that arbitration is not final in those case when arbitrators assume the burden of explaining their awards to the parties. Finality in the context of arbitrations really only happens when the arbitrators narrowly or decline to explain their awards to the parties.

2. The Lease failed to define the term "consequential damages" and failed to preclude lost profits as damages awardable to Bounce

In the Final Award Letter, the Arbitrator addressed the question of whether the parties intended the Lease to require Bounce to release its *specific* right to claim "lost profits" as a part of a damage claim against KEC. (CP 50), and *Appendix A* at $\P 2$. The Arbitrator found and the parties agreed that the Lease required Bounce to release its general right to claim "consequential damages." Id. The Arbitrator next reviewed the entire Lease to find that the Lease failed to define the term "consequential damages" and failed both to include the term "lost profits" in "consequential damages" and to exclude "lost profits" as a measure of damages awardable under the Lease. Id. In fact, the term "lost profits" fails to appear in the Lease. *Id.* Mr. Khan testified for the second time during the September 17, 2019 hearing that he read the Lease when Mr. Singh presented it to him and that he did not understand Lease Paragraph 21 or any other Lease provision to strip Bounce of its specific right to claim "lost profits" as damages if needed.

The Arbitrator wrote:

But whatever the [lease] language means, it must be construed against the [landlord] who drafted the language.

(CP 60.) The Arbitrator found that KEC drafted the Lease and the Lease drafter had, at the time of execution, 20 years of experience as a commercial real estate broker. **Id.** The Arbitrator next stated that the Lease was a complicated document especially for Bounce, who had very limited real estate experience, and that KEC did not give Bounce adequate time to review the Lease, or make any effort to explain it to Bounce. *Id.* The Arbitrator construed the undefined term "consequential damages" against KEC (the Lease drafter) and in favor of Bounce. The term "consequential damages" does not appear in Standard English dictionaries because it is a legal term of art.

The Opinion reached the opposite result from the Arbitrator by defining the term "consequential damages" for the parties by reference to a legal dictionary. **Appendix A** at P. 6. The Arbitrator's findings strongly indicate that Bounce had no knowledge of "legal terms of art" when it signed the Lease and

17

reasonably no expectation that terms from a legal dictionary would be applied to the Lease after Bounce executed it to change the meaning of words that Bounce understood from Standard English. The Opinion's application of a legal dictionary to change the meaning of lease terms after Bounce signed the Lease has created unreasonable and unfair surprise to Bounce.

3. The Arbitrator Awarded Bounce Damages unrelated to any Award of Lost Profits that should be affirmed on Appeal

The Arbitrator awarded Bounce damages unrelated to the award of "lost profits." The Opinion failed address the below three damage awards. The Arbitrator awarded Bounce \$25,000 for Miscellaneous Damages (CP 51). The Arbitrator also awarded Bounce \$11,171 in terms against KEC for discovery abuses by specific Order on January 10, 2019 (CP 53). Finally, the Arbitrator awarded Bounce attorney's fees on the arbitration (CP 53). These awarded damages are unrelated to any award of "lost profits."

The Opinion vacates the entire arbitration award without

addressing the award of damages unrelated to "lost profits." The Opinion fails to articulate a theory by which it would vacate these three damage awards even if it had addressed them. The Arbitrator's Final Award Letter makes these awards (miscellaneous damages, discovery abuse terms, and related attorney's fees) as bare conclusive statements. As such, these damage awards must be affirmed under the Facial Legal Error Doctrine.

A. Grounds for Relief Requested

1. No Court has addressed the fact that the 2006 Amendments to the Arbitration Act Delated a Phrase from the Provision that sets the Standard for Judicial Review of Arbitration Awards

As noted by Justice Lawrence-Berrey, the updated version

of former RCW 7.04.160(4)—RCW 7.04A.230(1)(d) deleted the entire second phrase of RCW 7.04.160(4). Under the former RCW 7.04.160(4) an award could be vacated if "[1] the arbitrators exceeded their powers, or [2] so imperfectly executed them that a final and definite award upon the subject matter submitted was not made." *Id*. (underline added). The amended

version of this provision states that "the court shall vacate an award if: (d) An arbitrator exceed the arbitrator's powers[.]" RCW 7.04A.230. The above second underlined phrase was intentionally deleted in the 2006 Amendment. Mainline Rock & Ballast, Inc., 8 Wn.App.2d at 619. No appellate court has determined the effect of this intentional deletion or omission on the standard by which courts are to assess arbitration awards. The change to the applicable statute is significant because private arbitrations are governed entirely by statute. Godfrey v. HartfordCas. Ins. Co., 142 Wn.2d 885, 893, 16 P.3d 617 (2001) (hence the process by which to affirm or vacate an arbitration award is governed entirely by statute.) Thus how are courts to account for the above change to the statute without direction from the appellate courts when the process by which to affirm or vacate awards is governed entirely by statute?

2. The Opinion wrongly Applied the Facial Legal Error Doctrine and the Law of Contract Interpretation

A. The Opinion wrongly Found that the Arbitrator violated the Facial Legal Error Doctrine by citing out

of state Legal Authority for the Idea of Lost Profits as Direct Damages

The Opinion found that the Arbitrator exceeded his power when he awarded Bounce some of its lost profits as damages. Relying on a legal dictionary, the Opinion states that the award of lost profits was an improper award of consequential damages in violation of Washington law. **Appendix C** at P. 8. Yet here, the Rider submitted the parties' dispute both to Washington substantive law and the AAA Commercial Arbitration Rules that contains AAA Rule R-47. KEC drafted this Rider and included it in the parties lease. The Rider breaks down to including a general statement about applying Washington Substantive law and a specific provision about scope of remedies available to the Arbitrator. AAA Rule R-47 provides as follows:

R-47. Scope of Award

Thus, once the Arbitrator reads the entire Lease to confirm that the Lease lacks a definition for "consequential damages" and

⁽a) The arbitrator may grant any remedy or relief that the arbitrator deems just and equitable and within the scope of the agreement of the parties, including, but not limited to, specific performance of a contract.

does not otherwise prohibit the award of lost profits, he properly exercises his authority to grant any remedy or relief that he deems just and equitable. AAA Rule R-47.

Bounce concedes as it must, however, if it is proper for courts under Washington contract interpretation law to interpret and apply terms in a commercial lease by resort to a legal dictionary when the parties otherwise failed to define the term themselves in their lease or by the conduct, then Opinion is correct on this point. Bounce does note that no existing legal authority appears to authorize courts to resort to legal dictionaries after the parties sign a lease to define terms not otherwise expressly defined by the leasing parties themselves let alone to define such undefined terms in a way that benefits the party drafting the lease. In this sense, the Opinion broke new legal ground.

B. The Opinion wrongly applied Washington Contract Interpretation Law by citing a Legal Dictionary to define a Lease term not defined by the Parties in their Lease.

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