FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/27/2021 8:00 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 1003064

Court of Appeals No. 81132-1-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON ON II

BOUNCE AND LASERTAG, LLC d/b/a PUMP IT UP, et al., Plaintiffs/Appellants,

V.

KENT EAST COMMERCIAL, LLC, et al, Defendants/Appellants.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF KING COUNTY, THE HONORABLE MICHAEL K. RYAN, PRESIDING

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

By:

Christopher M. Constantine, WSBA, No. 11650 Of Counsel, Inc., P. S. Of Attorneys for Respondents P. O. Box 7125 Tacoma, WA 98417-0125 (253) 752-7850

I.

III. ARGUMENT

A. Petitioners fail to address RAP 13.4 (b).

RAP 13.4 (b) provides as follows:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4 (b) provides review will be accepted by the Court <u>only</u> if one or more of the four grounds listed therein is established. Therefore, it must be concluded the failure to establish any of the four grounds listed in RAP 13.4 (b) is fatal to a petition for review.

Petitioners fail to mention, let alone establish, any of the grounds listed in RAP 13.4 (b). Therefore, Petitioners' Petition for Review should be denied. *Shumway v. Payne*, 184 Wash.2d 1017, 389 P, 3d 460, 462 (2015) (Unpublished; cited as persuasive under GR 14.1).

B. Petitioners fails to cite to the record.

Petitioners' discussion of facts in its Introduction (Petition p. 1-6) fails to contain a single citation to the record and its Statement of the Case contains only one such citation at page 13. Petitioners' unsupported factual assertions should therefore not be considered. RAP 10.3 (a) (6); *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley,* 118 Wash.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992); *Fishburn v. Pierce County Planning and Land Services*Department, 161 Wn. App. 452, 473, 250 P. 3d 146, review denied, 172 Wash.2d 1012, 259 P.3d 1109 (2011).

C. Petitioners fail to support their argument regarding the Court of Appeals' use of a legal dictionary with any citation to authority.

In their Introduction, Petitioners complain about the Court of Appeals' use of a legal dictionary. Petition, p. 7-8. Petitioners repeat their argument regarding the Court of Appeals' reference to a legal dictionary in their Petition at pages 15-18. Petitioners cite no authority that such use of a legal dictionary is improper. Petitioners' argument should therefore not be considered. RAP 10.3 (a) (6); *De Heer v. Seattle Post Intelligencer*, 60 Wn. 2d 122, 126, 372 P. 2d 193 (1962) ("Where no authorities are cited in support of a proposition, the court is not required to search out authorities, but may assume that counsel, after diligent search, has found none.").

To the extent it merits consideration, Petitioners' argument against the Court of Appeals' use of a legal dictionary is contrary to Washington decisions which sanction the use of legal dictionaries. *See, e.g., Lynott v. National Union Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh, Pa.,* 123 Wash.2d 678, 692, 871 P.2d 146 (1994); *Stuart v. American States Insurance Co.,* 124 Wn. 2d 814, 820-21, 953 P.2d 462 (1998).

Moreover, the contract's use of a term such as consequential damages supports the Court of Appeals' use of a legal dictionary. In *Lynott*, the court found it appropriate in interpreting the meaning of "acquisition" in an insurance policy exclusion to rely upon the definition of that term in a legal dictionary. 123 Wash.2d 692; *Stuart v. American States Insurance Co.*, 124 Wn. 2d 814, 820-21.

D. Petitioners fail to support their argument regarding the Court of Appeals' failure to address their damages unrelated to lost profits with any citation to authority.

Petitioners complain the Court of Appeals failed to address the Arbitrator's award of damages unrelated to lost profits. Petition, p. 18-19. Petitioners fail to support their argument with any citation to authority, so their argument should not be considered. RAP 10.3 (a) (6); *De Heer v. Seattle Post Intelligencer*, 60 Wn. 2d 126.

E. Petitioners fail to establish grounds under RAP 13.4 (b) regarding their argument concerning the 2006 Amendments to the Arbitration Act.

Petitioners fail to establish which, if any, ground in RAP 13.4 (b) supports their argument concerning the effect of the 2006 Amendments to the Arbitration Act. Petition, p. 19-20. Petitioners steadfastly advocate their interpretation of RCW 7.04A.230 (1) (d) as precluding application of the error of law standard. *Id.* However, in the majority opinion in *Mainline Rock and Ballast, Inc. v. Barnes, Inc.*, 8 Wn. App. 2d 594, 608-09, 439 P. 3d 662 (2019), the court interpreted RCW 7.04A.230 (1) (d) to allow application of the error of law standard. "...Based on RCW 7.04A.230 (1) (d), arbitrators are deemed to have exceeded their authority when the face of the arbitration award exhibits an erroneous rule of law..." This interpretation harmonizes the 2006 legislative change in adopting RCW 7.04A.230 (1) (d) with prior cases cited in that decision.

In *Salewski v. Pilchuck Veterinary Hospital, Inc., PS.*, 189 Wn. App. 898, 904, 359 P. 3d 884 (2015), the Court's discussion of the facial error standard followed its quotation of RCW 7.04A.230 (d). Implicit in the Court's decision is recognition the facial error standard applies to RCW 7.04A.230.

Further, in *Cummings v. Budget Tank Removal & Environmental*Services, LLC, 163 Wn. App. 379, 388-89, 260 P. 3d 220 (2011), the Court discussed RCW 7.04A.230 (d) and the facial error standard:

One of the statutory grounds for vacating an award exists when the arbitrator has "exceeded the arbitrator's powers." RCW 7.04A.230(d); Federated Servs. Ins. Co. v. Pers. Representative of Estate of Norberg, 101 Wash. App. 119, 123, 4 P.3d 844 (2000), review denied, 389 142 Wash.2d 1025, 21 P.3d 1150 (2001). This ground for vacation is available only if the alleged error appears "on the face of the award":

In *Serpanok Construction, Inc. v. Point Ruston, LLC*, -- Wn. App.--, 495 P.3d 271, at 282 (2021) (Unpublished text, cited as persuasive under GR 14.1), the court considered the facial legal error standard continued to apply to review under RCW 7.04A.230.

Mainline Rock, Salewski, Cummings and Serpanok Construction support application of the facial error standard to RCW 7.04A.230 (1) (d).

F. Petitioners fail to support their argument the Court of Appeals wrongly applied the Facial Legal Error Doctrine with any citation to authority, so it should not be considered.

Petitioners argue the Court of Appeals wrongly applied the Facial Legal Error Doctrine. Petition, p. 21-22. Petitioners argue under AAA Rule 47, the arbitrator had authority to grant any relief he deemed just and equitable. *Id.* Petitioners advocate an interpretation of AAA Rule R-47 that confers unfettered discretion upon the arbitrator, thereby rendering the

word "equitable" in the Rule a useless appendage. Washington courts will not adopt an interpretation that renders language meaningless. *Kelly v. Tonda*, 198 Wn. App. 303, 316, 393 P. 3d 824 (2017).

Arbitration Rule R-47 (a) requires that the relief granted by the arbitrator must be "...within the scope of the agreement of the parties...." CP 238.

Thus, even the AAA Commercial Rules recognize the arbitrator's decision to afford a remedy or relief he or she deems just and equitable must also be consistent the parties' agreement, including Paragraph 5 of the Arbitration Rider or Paragraph 35f of the Lease Agreement. Thus, there is no escape from the requirement the arbitrator's decision must comport with Washington law. And by following a New York case, there is no question that the arbitrator failed to follow Washington law. CP 23.

Petitioners argue there is no authority authorizing courts to resort to legal dictionaries when parties to a lease fail to define terms by themselves. Petition, p. 22. To the contrary, Washington courts allow a court to resort to dictionaries, even legal dictionaries, to supply the definition of a term not defined by the parties themselves. *See Lynott*, 123 Wn. 2d 692.

G. The Court of Appeals did not err in relying on a legal dictionary to supply a term not defined by the parties.

Petitioners argue the meaning of an undefined term in a lease can be supplied by reference to a Standard English Dictionary. Petition, p. 24. Respondents do not dispute the court may resort to such a dictionary. But that does not exhaust the realm of possibilities to supply definition to an undefined term. Courts may also resort to legal dictionaries. *See, Lynott,* 123 Wn. 2d 692; *Stuart v. American States Insurance Co.*, 124 Wn. 2d 820-21. Here, resort to a legal dictionary is a logical choice when a court is interpreting a legal document such as a lease.

Petitioners invoke the doctrine of *contra proferentium*, citing *Allstate Ins. Co. v. Peasley*, 131 Wn. 2d 420, 424, 932 P. 2d 1244 (1997). Petition,
p. 24. In *Peasley*, the Court recognized the rule that "*If an ambiguity is found in an exclusionary clause, the ambiguity is strictly construed against the insurer*…" Here, Petitioners do not identify an ambiguity. Nor does this

case involve insurance. Petitioners' reliance upon *Peasley* is misplaced.

Substantial Washington authority recognizes *contra proferentium* as a doctrine of last resort. *See Jacoby v. Grays Harbor Chair and Manufacturing Co.*, 77 Wn. 2d 911, 919, 468 P. 2d 666 (1970) ("The rule should not be applied until called into play by an ambiguity.").

In *Roberts, Jackson & Associates v. Pier 66 Corp.*, 41 Wn. App. 64, 69, 702 P. 2d 137 (1985), the court concluded intent of the parties was determined by viewing the contract as a whole, the subject matter and objective of the contract, all the circumstances surrounding the making of the contract, the subsequent acts and conduct of the parties to the contract, and the reasonableness of respective interpretations advocated by the parties, and if after viewing the contract in this manner, the intent of the parties can be determined, there is no need to resort to the rule that ambiguity be resolved against the drafter.

In Washington Professional Real Estate v. Young, 163 Wn. App. 800, 818, 260 P. 3d 991 (2011), the court concluded "...a reviewing court should not resort to the rule of interpretation that construes an agreement against its drafter unless the intent of the parties cannot otherwise be determined..."

In Forest Marketing Enterprises, Inc. v. State Department of Natural Resources, 125 Wn. App. 126, 132, 104 P. 3d 40 (2005), after quoting Roberts, Jackson & Associates v. Pier 66 Corp., supra, the court concluded "we need not construe the contract viewing the contract as a whole and in context, we can determine against DNR."

Petitioners argue the Court of Appeals, instead of following the rules of contract interpretation cited by Petitioners, instead resorted to a legal

dictionary to define consequential damages. Petition, p. 25. To the contrary, the Court acted well within its authority under *Lynott*, 123 Wash.2d 692 and *Stuart v. American States Insurance Co.*, 124 Wn. 2d 820-21.

H. Petitioners fail to support their argument regarding the Court of Appeals' remand of damage awards it did not address.

Petitioners argue, without citation to authority, that the Court of Appeals remanded the entire arbitration award for rehearing before an arbitrator, including the arbitrator's award of \$25,000 in miscellaneous damages, \$11,171 for discovery abuses and award of related attorney fees. Petition p. 26. Petitioners fail to support their argument with any citation to authority, so their argument should not be considered. RAP 10.3 (a) (6); *De Heer v. Seattle Post Intelligencer*, 60 Wn. 2d 126.

I. Petitioners fail to discuss the factors in RAP 13.4 (b) in their discussion why review should be accepted.

In their argument why review should be accepted, Petitioners once again make no attempt to argue which factors in RAP 13.4 (b) they have satisfied. Petition, p. 26-29. Petitioners' failure to satisfy one or more factors in RAP 13.4 (b) is fatal to their Petition for Review. *Shumway v. Payne*, 184 Wash.2d 1017, 389 P, 3d 460, 462 (2015).

Petitioners complain once again about the Court of Appeals' use of legal dictionaries. Petition, p. 27-28. Once again, Petitioners fail to

support their argument with citation to authority as required by RAP 10.3

(a) (6). Petitioners argument should therefore not be considered. *De Heer v. Seattle Post Intelligencer*, 60 Wn. 2d 126.

Petitioners also argue the Court should take review to address the deleted second phrase of former RCW 7.04.160 (4) in the current Amended RCW 7.04A.230 (1) (d). Petition, p. 28. Petitioners again fail to address the *Mainline Rock, Salewski, Cummings* and *Serpanok Construction* decisions, which support application of the facial error standard to RCW 7.04A.230 (1) (d).

Petitioners again revisit their argument regarding the need to affirm those portions of the Arbitration Award not related to the issue of awarding lost profits to Petitioners. Petition, p. 29. Once again, Petitioners fail to support their argument with citation to authority as required by RAP 10.3

(a) (6). Petitioners argument should therefore not be considered. *De Heer v. Seattle Post Intelligencer*, 60 Wn. 2d 126.

J. Respondents request an award of attorney fees if they prevail in this appeal.

In the event they prevail against this petition for review, Respondents request an award of reasonable attorney fees on appeal, pursuant to Paragraph 27 of the Lease Agreement, RCW 4.84.330, RAP 18.1 (j) and

Marine Enterprises, Inc. v. Security Pacific Trading Corp., 50 Wn. App. 768, 773-74, 750 P. 2d 1290 (1988).

VI. CONCLUSION

Respondents ask the Court to deny the Petition for Review and to award them their reasonable attorney fees incurred in responding to the Petition for Review.